FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/16/2020 3:36 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99031-0 (Court of Appeals No. 79634-8-I)

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

TRADESMEN INTERNATIONAL, LLC,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

I. INTRODUCTION

Temporary workers are in a precarious position. They face a significant risk of slipping through the cracks of worker-safety protections. Staffing agencies that employ temporary workers may take a hands-off approach to worker safety. At the same time, hosting companies may fail to invest in training and safety precautions for temporary workers who may only work at a particular job site for a day or two. Temporary workers are vulnerable to exploitation because they often don't recognize safety hazards, and they may fear dismissal if they challenge the hazards they identify. This precariousness has real-world effects: temporary workers file nearly twice as many workers' compensation claims as permanent workers in comparable occupations. Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Temporary Worker Injury Claims*.

Adhering to the state constitution (Wash. Const. art. II, § 35), which commands protections for workers, the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act (WISHA) protects these vulnerable workers. And it provides for sanctions when, as here, a staffing agency fails to guard against a worker-safety hazard even after being tipped off to unsafe

¹ Dep't of Labor & Indus. Safety & Health Assessment & Research for Prevention, *Temporary Worker Injury Claims*, https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety-research/files/2017/76_07_2017_TemporaryWorkerInjuryClaims.pdf (attached as App. at 14).

behavior by hosting companies, exposing its workers to serious safety risks. But the Court of Appeals deeply eroded WISHA's protections by distorting the "employer" test under WISHA. In applying the economic realities test to decide whether a staffing agency constitutes an "employer" under WISHA, the Court of Appeals looked to whether staffing agencies have control over the work environment. But this definition of employer" is far too limited and lets staffing agencies off the hook even when they know their workers face safety risks. If the Court of Appeals decision stands, staffing agencies will escape liability even for known safety violations that the agencies intentionally failed to address.

So, for example, a Tradesmen manager could witness a Tradesmen worker failing to use fall protection on a worksite, and then stand by as the worker falls, claiming the same lack of control over the worksite that Tradesmen asserts in this case. What's more, the Court of Appeals' rule gives staffing agencies license to avoid worksites altogether. Curing this degradation of safety presents an issue of substantial public interest.

And the Court of Appeals' insistence that L&I must show control over the work environment to meet the economic realities test contradicts this Court's decision in *Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 186, 198, 332 P.3d 415 (2014). This Court held in *Becerra* that the

economic realities test is a flexible one that considers the totality of the circumstances, including an employer's knowledge of regulatory violations. Tying the "employer" test to control over the worker—rather than the worksite—and to the employer's knowledge of hazards appropriately encourages staffing agencies to be diligent about safety.

The Court of Appeals' decision undermines worker safety, conflicts with a Supreme Court decision, and presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). Review should be granted.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The Department of Labor & Industries (L&I) asks this Court to review the decision in *Department of Labor & Industries v. Tradesmen Int'l, LLC*, No. 79634-8-I (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2020) (cited as "slip op." and attached as App. at 1–13).²

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should a staffing agency that knows about a hazardous work condition and has control over a temporary worker be deemed an "employer" under WISHA, requiring compliance with safety laws?

² L&I has also petitioned for review in a related case in which review should be granted. *See Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Laborworks Indus. Staffing, Inc.*, No. 79717-4-II (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2020).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Temporary Work Presents Unique Dangers to Employees

The precariousness of temporary workers' employment places them at a much greater risk of injury than other workers. *Temporary Worker Injury Claims*, App. at 14. When a worker's tenure at a particular workplace is brief, several factors increase the worker's risk for injury: unfamiliarity with new work practices and surroundings, limited safety training, and a disproportionate share of younger workers, who often don't recognize hazards, don't refuse hazardous work, or don't demand appropriate protective equipment for fear of dismissal. Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Temporary Workers*. Staffing agencies may neglect learning about the hazards that their temporary workers face at each of the different worksites they supply. *Id.* Hosting employers looking for short-term workers may invest less effort in their safety. *See id.*

Washington has joined with the federal Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA) in an initiative to protect temporary workers. *See* Occ. Safety & Health Admin., *Protecting Temporary*

³ Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Temporary Workers*, https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety-research/ongoing-projects/temporary-workers#overview (attached as App. at 15–16).

Workers.⁴ OSHA recognizes the potential for abuse of temporary workers, which Washington shares:

OSHA has concerns that some employers may use temporary workers as a way to avoid meeting all their compliance obligations under the OSH Act and other worker protection laws; that temporary workers get placed in a variety of jobs, including the most hazardous jobs; that temporary workers are more vulnerable to workplace safety and health hazards and retaliation than workers in traditional employment relationships; that temporary workers are often not given adequate safety and health training or explanations of their duties by either the temporary staffing agency or the host employer. Therefore, it is essential that *both* employers comply with all relevant OSHA requirements.

Id. The initiative by OSHA recognizes that the staffing agency and the hosting company both bear responsibility for worker safety.

Under L&I's established practices, if a staffing agency has notice about a hazard that has arisen on a job site, L&I may cite the agency.

Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Dual Employers and DOSH Enforcement*,

Directive 1.15.⁵ Constructive knowledge is sufficient under WISHA to establish knowledge, meaning knowledge is established when a staffing agency should have known about the hazard. *See Erection Co. v. Dep't of*

⁴ Occ. Safety & Health Admin., *Protecting Temporary Workers*, https://www.osha.gov/temp_workers/ (attached as App. at 18–21).

⁵ Dep't of Labor & Indus., Div. of Occ. Safety & Health, *Dual Employers and DOSH Enforcement*, Directive 1.15, https://demo-public.lni.wa.gov/dA/96edf1ea0f/DD115.pdf (attached as App. at 22–26). L&I reissued this directive in 2019 with no changes; it was first adopted in 2000.

Labor & Indus., 160 Wn. App. 194, 206–07, 248 P.3d 1085 (2011). To show that a staffing agency had constructive knowledge, L&I can show that the agency did not act with due diligence. See id. OSHA takes the same approach. Protecting Temporary Workers, App. at 19 (ignorance of hazards is no excuse; staffing agency has a duty to find out about work conditions). Due diligence requires that an employer must take reasonable steps to discover safety hazards. Erection Co., 160 Wn. App. at 206–07.

B. Tradesmen Agrees It Has Nondelegable Duties About Its Employees' Safety

Tradesmen International, Inc. is a staffing agency that provides its employees as temporary workers to various customers, including Dochnahl Construction. AR 677–78. Tradesmen pays its employees' wages and pays industrial insurance premiums to L&I. AR 739.

Tradesmen agrees it inspects the job sites where it sends its workers as part of its nondelegable duty to protect workers. Resp't's Br. 30–31. Tradesmen reviews each worksite to make sure it is safe before sending its employees there. AR 676–77. Once a job begins, if Tradesmen sees a hazard, Tradesmen does not allow its employees to work there until the customer corrects the hazard. *See* AR 683.

Tradesmen has a safety program and safety rules that it expects its employees to follow at customers' worksites. AR 745. Tradesmen pays for

and supplies basic safety equipment and ensures that the equipment is onsite. AR 693, 742.

If a Tradesmen supervisor gives an employee an order, Tradesmen expects the employee to comply. *See* AR 686–87. This includes moving to the worksite of another customer. AR 686–87.

C. Tradesmen Did Not Compel Its Hosting Companies to Provide Notification When the Hosting Company Moved a Worker to a Different Job Site

Tradesmen contracted with Dochnahl to send one of Tradesmen's employees, Reti Sienafo, to a construction site to work as a laborer. AR 678–79. Tradesmen inspected the site specified in the contract. AR 679. But, in April 2016, Dochnahl sent Sienafo to a different worksite (North Palatine) without informing Tradesmen. AR 679.

At the North Palatine construction site, Dochnahl used a ramp over an unsafe trench, without guardrails. AR 704, 707. It also used scaffolding that was not designed by a qualified specialist. AR 711–12. L&I issued WISHA citations to Dochnahl and Tradesmen, finding that Sienafo was exposed to falls at the job site due to a ramp with no guardrails in violation of WAC 296-155-24609(3) and due to an improperly constructed scaffold in violation of WAC 296-874-2002(1)(a). AR 707, 711–12.

In reviewing L&I's inspection photos of the North Palatine worksite, Tradesmen's management agreed there were obvious fall hazards and WISHA violations present. AR 682–83. Tradesmen's management also agreed that, if its managers had seen these hazards, Tradesmen would not have allowed Tradesmen's employees to work at the site until Dochnahl corrected the hazards. *See* AR 683.

A Tradesmen manager said he expected, based on an informal agreement, that Dochnahl would tell Tradesmen if it sent an employee to a different worksite. AR 679. But Tradesmen does not, by contract, require its customers to inform Tradesmen when they move Tradesmen employees to a different worksite that Tradesmen has not yet inspected. AR 743. Tradesmen knew that its customers moved its employees to different worksites without informing Tradesmen. AR 681. One manager testified that, for his customers, he learned about instances around once per month of customers failing to tell Tradesmen that they had moved an employee to another worksite. AR 681.

Tradesmen imposes no consequences on customers that move employees to a new job site without informing Tradesmen. AR 680.

Tradesmen presented no evidence that it had a policy requiring that its

employees immediately contact their supervisor when the customer asks them to work at a location that Tradesmen has not yet inspected.

L&I cited Tradesmen because it did not exercise due diligence in ensuring its customers notified Tradesmen before moving a worker and because Tradesmen knew that hosting companies often moved workers without such notification, it had constructive knowledge of the hazards.

Tradesmen appealed the citation to the Board of Industrial

Insurance Appeals, and the Board vacated the citation. AR 4, 12. On
appeal, the superior court affirmed the Board. CP II 99. L&I appealed to
the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the superior court. Slip op. at 13.

V. ARGUMENT

The Washington Constitution and WISHA mandate the protection of workers at worksites. Wash. Const. art. II, § 35; RCW 49.17.010; see Bayley Constr. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 10 Wn. App. 2d 768, 781, 450 P.3d 647, review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1004 (2020). And this mandate is never more important than for vulnerable temporary workers. Statistical research shows that temporary work is a dangerous business. Temporary Worker Injury Claims, App. at 14. And temporary workers' hosting employers do not always take necessary safety precautions.

To combat dangers facing temporary workers, federal OSHA and L&I require both staffing agencies and hosting employers to protect workers, recognizing that both have control over the worker. With this control, actual or constructive knowledge of a hazard shows an employment relationship. The rule cannot be that a staffing agency can sit on its hands and do nothing when it knows or should have known about a workplace hazard. Washington's workers deserve better.

To determine whether control over the worker and knowledge establish that a company is an "employer" under RCW 49.17.020(4), courts apply the economic realities test.⁶ The economic realities test authorizes state regulation when a company has a sufficient connection to a worker. The test must be liberally interpreted to further the state constitution's mandate of worker safety protection (*see* Wash. Const. art. II, § 35) and WISHA's purpose to provide "safe and healthful working

Slip op. at 9 (quoting *Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 191 Wn. App. 9, 31, 361 P.3d 767 (2015)).

⁶ The factors in the economic realities test used by the Court of Appeals are:

[&]quot;1) who the workers consider their employer; 2) who pays the workers' wages; 3) who has the responsibility to control the workers; 4) whether the alleged employer has the power to control the workers; 5) whether the alleged employer has the power to fire, hire, or modify the employment condition of the workers; 6) whether the workers' ability to increase their income depends on efficiency rather than initiative, judgment, and foresight; and 7) how the workers' wages are established.

conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington" (see RCW 49.17.010). See Bayley Constr., 10 Wn. App. 2d at 781–82.

When applying the economic realities test, this Court has emphasized it will not apply any particular factor mechanically, and "[t]he determination of the relationship does not depend on . . . isolated factors but rather upon the circumstances of the whole activity." *Becerra*, 181 Wn.2d at 198 (establishing joint-employer test for wage violations) (quotations omitted). This Court considers whether a company knew about a regulatory violation to determine whether the economic realities test is met. *Becerra*, 181 Wn.2d at 198.

To best protect workers, the economic realities test for WISHA should permit a finding that a staffing agency is an employer if it knew or should have known about the hazard (*see infra* Part V.A) when it controlled the worker rather than when it controlled the work activity and work environment (*see infra* Part V.B). Consideration of this issue warrants review.

A. Disregarding an Employer's Duty to Address Known Hazards Conflicts with This Court's Precedent and Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Leaving the gap in protection when a staffing agency knows about a hazardous condition undermines the state constitution's and WISHA's

mandate to safeguard persons working in dangerous conditions. Wash. Const. art. II, § 35; RCW 49.17.010.⁷ In contrast, considering knowledge under the economic realities test fulfils this mandate because it best protects workers. L&I has long imposed liability on a staffing agency when it knows or should have known about a workplace hazard. *Dual Employers and DOSH Enforcement*, App. at 26.⁸ L&I's policy mirrors this Court's approach under the economic realities test to examine "whether the putative joint employer knew of the . . . violation." *Becerra*, 181 Wn.2d at 198.

Knowledge serves the same purpose as control over the work environment as it allows a company to address the hazardous conditions. Federal cases find an employer responsible for safety violations when the employer does not control the worksite but exposes the worker to the hazard and knows about the unsafe condition. *E.g.*, *D. Harris Masonry*

⁷ "The legislature shall pass necessary laws for the protection of persons working in mines, factories and other employments dangerous to life or deleterious to health; and fix pains and penalties for the enforcement of the same." Wash. Const. art. II, § 35.

⁸ The Court of Appeals rejected L&I's argument about its policy because L&I's policy is not in a rule. Slip op. at 8. But L&I offered it as persuasive authority, and the Court gives a "high level of deference" to L&I's interpretations because of its "expertise and insight." *Brady v. Autozone Stores, Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 576, 581, 397 P.3d 120 (2017). As the front-line agency implementing WISHA, L&I's interpretation should have been deferred to over the Board's. *Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 594, 90 P.3d 659 (2004); *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Slaugh*, 177 Wn. App. 439, 452, 312 P.3d 676 (2013); *see Chao v. Occ. Safety & Health Review Comm'n*, 540 F.3d 519, 526 (6th Cir. 2008).

Contracting, Inc. v. Dole, 876 F.2d 343, 345–46 (3rd Cir. 1989); Havens Steel Co. v. Occ. Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 738 F.2d 397, 400–01 (10th Cir. 1984); Bratton Corp. v. Occ. Safety & Health Rev. Comm'n, 590 F.2d 273, 275–76 (8th Cir. 1979); Mark A. Rothstein, Occ. Safety & Health L. § 7:7 (2020 ed.) (compiling cases).

If a staffing agency knows about a hazard, it must take steps to have the hosting company address it or remove the worker from the job site. *Aerotek*, 2018 CCH OSHD ¶ 33,663, 2018 WL 2084250, at *5 (O.S.H.R.C.A.L.J. Mar. 23, 2018) (staffing agency's "obligation extends at least as far as informing [the hosting company] of a hazard, requesting it be abated, and ensuring steps are taken by [the hosting company] to protect employees from the hazard."); *Air Conditioning & Elec. Sys., Inc.*, 3 BNA OSHC 1351, 1975 WL 4883, at *3 (O.S.H.RC.A.L.J May 22, 1975) (removal from the job site suffices to protect the worker); *see Elec. Smith, Inc. v. Sec'y of Labor*, 666 F.2d 1267, 1270 (9th Cir. 1982) (with knowledge of a hazardous condition, a non-controlling company can "persuade the employer responsible for the condition to correct it [or] instruct its employees to avoid the area where the hazard exists.") (quotation omitted).

It enfeebles workplace safety to excuse a staffing agency that profits from a temporary worker from protecting its workers from known safety risks. The state constitution's framers and the Legislature did not intend such a result when the Legislature adopted WISHA. Wash. Const. art. II, § 35; RCW 49.17.010. The law should encourage staffing agencies to act on known hazards rather than sanction them by closing their eyes to potential danger. Otherwise, the law would permit the scenario described above of a Tradesmen manager watching a safety violation and doing nothing.

A staffing agency is not a stranger to a temporary worker, and it makes sense to impose WISHA responsibilities on it when it knows a worker is subject to danger. Because knowledge of a hazardous condition makes it possible for a staffing agency to act to protect its workers, a finding of knowledge (combined with control over the worker as discussed *infra* Part V.B) should be a persuasive element under the economic realities test.

Tradesmen had constructive knowledge of the hazard. Constructive knowledge of a hazard is sufficient under WISHA to establish knowledge. *Erection Co.*, 160 Wn. App. at 206–07. To show that Tradesmen had constructive knowledge, L&I can show that Tradesmen did not act with

due diligence. *See Erection Co.*, 160 Wn. App. at 206–07. Due diligence requires an employer take reasonable steps to discover safety hazards. *Id.*

Showing constructive knowledge is Tradesmen's knowledge that its hosting companies moved its employees to different worksites without informing Tradesmen. AR 681. A manager conceded that, for his customers, he learned about an instance around once per month of customers failing to tell Tradesmen that they had moved an employee to another worksite. AR 681.

With this knowledge, Tradesmen had a duty to ensure the customer told them about the switches: "Reasonable diligence involves several factors, including an employer's obligation to inspect the work area, to anticipate hazards to which employees may be exposed, and to take measures to prevent the occurrence." *Erection Co.*, 160 Wn. App. at 206–07. Tradesmen's work practices virtually guarantee it will not know when its customers move employees to a hazardous area without notice. Due diligence requires, at a minimum, effective processes that require a customer to notify the staffing agency when the customer's worksite assignments change so that Tradesmen could inspect the new worksite.⁹

⁹ The Court of Appeals said it would not find knowledge because Dochnahl did not inform Tradesmen of the move. Slip op. at 8 & n.2. But this ignores that under WISHA, employers are responsible for constructive knowledge, not just actual knowledge, and Tradesmen knew clients were switching job sites and did nothing to stop that. This is not due diligence.

Considering knowledge under the economic realities test will motivate employers to provide these effective processes, and encouraging such behavior warrants review.

B. Requiring Control Over the Work Environment to Qualify as an Employer Undermines Worker Safety

It would better serve worker safety to interpret the control factors in the economic realities test to allow control over the worker, rather than control over the work activity and work environment. A staffing agency that controls a worker and knows of a safety violation should have to ameliorate the hazard and ensure the worker's safety. Tradesmen controlled the worker, as shown by its ability to hire, fire, assign work, pay wages, train in safety techniques, provide safety equipment, assess safety, direct compliance with safety requirements, and remove a worker from a worksite. AR 676–78, 686–87, 739–45.

This Court has held that, under the economic realities test, control over the manner work is to be performed is not a litmus test. *Anfinson v*.

.

¹⁰ Tradesmen agreed it had nondelegable duties (Resp't's Br. 30–31) and points to basic facts, which show control:

[[]T]he record unequivocally establishes that Tradesmen does take care of its workers and their safety. For instance, Tradesmen provides its employees with OSHA 10 training at Tradesmen's expense; it provides its employees with basic personal protective equipment; it conducts walkouts to ensure the job site is safe and healthy; and it provides monthly safety training during its Toolbox Talks. Resp't's Br. 31.

FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 870–72, 281 P.3d 289 (2012) (right to control not determinative in remedial wage legislation). Interpreting control over the worker to mean control over the work activity and work environment, the Court of Appeals said control over the worker was the key question. Slip op. at 9–11. But interpreting control over the worker to require control over the work activity and work environment sets the bar too high, with temporary workers unable to obtain workplace protections from the staffing agencies.

The *Potelco* Court's recital of the economic realities test says nothing about employers needing to control the work activity or work environment, but articulates the test as control over the workers. *Potelco*, 191 Wn. App. at 31. In another recent staffing agency case, *Staffmark*, Division II applied *Potelco* to look to control over the worker:

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