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

This case involves the circumstances under which a particular 
company can be considered an "employer" under the Act so as 
to be held responsible for the safety of its employees. The 
Supreme Court has held, in the context of other statutes, that it 
is inappropriate to use varying state common law definitions of 
an employee and employer in construing federal 
legislation. United States v. Silk, 331 U.S. 704 (1974). Instead 
of looking at narrow common law definitions, the Supreme 
Court has looked to the purpose of the statute involved in 
deciding how employment relationships should be 
defined. NLRB v. Hearst Publications, Inc., 322 U.S. 111, 124 
(1944) (the meaning of the term" employee" under the National 
Labor Relations Act is to be determined primarily from the 
history, terms, and purposes of the legislation). Further, the 
United States courts of appeals that have addressed the issue 
under the Act have held that employment relationships should 
be determined by reference to the Act's purpose and 
policy. Clarkson Construction Co. v. OSHRC, 531 F.2d 451, 
457-58 (10th Cir. 1976); Frohlich Crane Service, Inc. v. 
OSHRC, 521 F.2d 628, 631-32 (10th Cir. 1975). 

The express purpose of the Act is to "assure so far as possible 
every working man and woman in the Nation safe and healthful 
working conditions." 29 U.S.C. 65l(b). To effectuate this 
purpose, it is appropriate for the Commission, in considering 
whether an employment relationship exists, to place primary 
reliance upon who has control over the work environment 
such that abatement of the hazards can be obtained. This 
approach is consistent with the above-cited Supreme Court and 
courts of appeals opinions. It is also in keeping with the 
Commission's analysis in the analogous situation of the multi­
employer construction worksite, where the Commission has 
concluded that the Act's purpose is best served if an employer's 
duty to comply with OSHA standards is based upon whether it 
created or controlled the cited hazard. 

(Emphasis added). 

Likewise, the Board adopted the MLB holding in In re Skills 

Resource Training Center, BIIA Dec., 95 W 253 (1997) (holding that the 

Employer, for purposes of a WISHA Citation, is the employer with control 

over the worksite). Significantly, in joint-employment situations, both 

employers cannot be cited unless both have substantial control over the 
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workers and the work environment involved m the violations. See 

Id. ( determining that the primary employer should not have been cited for 

any WISHA violations because it did not control the worksite where the 

violations occurred). 

The Court of Appeals below affirmed the Federal Government's 

seven part "economic realities" test in joint employment situations to 

determine which employers should be issued a WISHA citation. Id. As 

held below, the economic realities test was also used by the Court of 

Appeals in determining whether there is a WISHA violation involving 

leased or temporary employees. Pote/co, Inc. v. Dept' of labor and 

Indus., 191 Wn. App. 9, 30-31, 361 P.3d 767 (2015). The economic 

realities test analyzes: (1) who the worker considers their employer; (2) who 

pays the workers' wages; (3) who has the responsibility to control the 

workers; (4) whether the alleged employer has the power to control the 

workers; ( 5) whether the alleged employer has the power to fire, hire, or 

modify the employment condition of the workers; (6) whether the workers' 

ability to increase their income depends on efficiency rather than initiative, 

judgment and foresight; and (7) how the workers' wages are 

established. Pote/co, 191 Wn. App. at 31. 

Despite the Department's spurious attempts to downplay the issue 

of control over workers and the work environment in determining whether 
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an "employer" is liable at a joint-employer jobsite2, this is exactly what the 

Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission ("OSHRC") and the 

Board considered. 

Washington State caselaw and federal OSHA caselaw do not 

support the Department's assertion that Tradesmen should be an 

"employer" for the purposes of WISHA. As correctly found below, 

Tradesmen lacked any control over Mr. Seinafo, the worksite, and the work 

environment at the Palatine jobsite. Therefore, the Board's Decision and 

Order vacating Citation No. 317940588 was supported by substantial 

evidence and the law and was affirmed. 

The Court of Appeals rejected the Department's argument that 

control of the worksite was not a required element under the economic 

realities test. The Court held: 

"We determine substantial evidence supports the Board's findings 
that Tradesmen did not have control over the temporary employee 
when at a job site for Dochnahl and did not control the Palatine Ave. 
job site. And the Board's findings support its conclusion that the 
Department could not cite Tradesmen as an employer for the 
WISHA violations." 

The Department argues that the Court of Appeals, "deeply eroded 

WISHA's protections by distorting the 'employer' test under WISHA. In 

applying the economic realities test to decide whether a staffing agency 

2 A joint-employer worksite generally involves leased workers or temporary employees, 
which must be distinguished from a multi-employer worksite, which is one where 
employees of several employers perform their duties under the ultimate direction of one of 
the employers, such as a general contractor. (CABR p. 5-6) 
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constitutes an 'employer' under WISHA, the Court of Appeals looked to 

whether staffing agencies have control over the work environment." 

As set forth below, worker safety is not eroded by the Court of 

Appeals' decision. The Department ignores the fact that Dochnahl was the 

subcontractor that created the safety hazards at the Palatine job site, as well 

as JAS Design, the general contractor of the Palatine project, were all cited 

as they had the non-delegable duty to provide safety for all workers at the 

multi-employer worksite. 

Not content with citing two contractors, the Department now seeks 

to hold Tradesmen responsible for the unsafe conditions even though it had 

no knowledge that Mr. Seinafo was sent there that morning. Moreover, 

Tradesmen had no active role in the Palatine project. Tradesmen had no 

authority or ability to control the means and methods of work to be 

performed and it knew nothing of the construction taking place. 

Accordingly, the precarious nature of the new employment for Mr. Seinafo 

that the Department addresses could only be corrected by the three 

contractors responsible for the project under a multi-employer site analysis. 

The rationale in MLB, supra, is sound. It is consistent with WISHA 

to place primary reliance upon who has control over the work environment 

such that abatement of the hazards can be obtained. This approach is 

consistent with the above-cited Supreme Court and courts of appeals 

opinions. It is also in keeping with the Commission's analysis in the 

analogous situation of the multi-employer construction worksite, where the 

Commission has concluded that, "the Act's purpose is best served if an 
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employer's duty to comply with OSHA standards is based upon whether it 

created or controlled the cited hazard." It would be fundamentally unfair to 

hold Tradesmen responsible for safety violations it did not create, control, 

or have any ability to correct. 

The decision from the Court of Appeals below reflects this sound 

judgment and correctly notes the difference between dual employer v. 

multi-employer worksites. The strong public interest is to maintain the 

existing law. 

C. The Department's attempt to apply a multi-employer worksite 
analysis to a dual employer relationship should not be adopted. 

The Department's use of constructive knowledge that is part of 

a multi-employer worksite analysis is intellectually dishonest. 

The Department's assertion that Tradesmen was "tipped off to unsafe 

behavior" is not in any way supported by the evidence. 

The Department argues that, "knowledge serves the same purpose 

as control over the work environment as it allows a company to address the 

hazardous conditions." The Department further asserts that: 

"Federal cases find an employer responsible for safety violations 
when the employer does not control the worksite but exposes the 
worker to the hazard and knows about the unsafe condition. e.g., D. 
Harris Masonry Contracting, Inc. v. Dole, 876 F.2d 343, 345-46 
(3rd Cir. 1989); Havens Steel Co. v. 0cc. Safety & Health Review 
Comm 'n, 738 F.2d 397, 400-01 (10th Cir. 1984); Bratton Corp. v. 
0cc. Safety & Health Rev. Comm 'n, 590 F.2d 273, 275-76 (8th Cir. 
1979); Mark A. Rothstein, 0cc. Safety & Health L. § 7:7 (2020 ed.) 
( compiling cases)." 

All of the cases cited by the Department to support its argument that 

knowledge serves the same purpose as control involve multi-employer 
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worksites, not dual employer worksites. Accordingly, the Department's 

argument is not valid and should not be accepted. 

The Department argues that the existing definition is, "far too 

limited and lets staffing agencies off the hook even when they know their 

workers face safety risks. If the Court of Appeals decision stands, staffing 

agencies will escape liability even for known safety violations that the 

agencies intentionally failed to address." By extension, the Department 

argues that: 

"The law should encourage staffing agencies to act on known 
hazards rather than sanction them by closing their eyes to potential 
danger. Otherwise, the law would permit the scenario described 
above of a Tradesmen manager watching a safety violation and 
doing nothing." 

The Department ignores a dual employer worksite case where the 

temporary agency was cited because it had sufficient control. Sec. of Labor, 

v. AerotekOSHRC Docket No. 16-0618, p. 8 (March 23, 2018) 

Contrary to the Department's misguided argument that the law 

would allow a Tradesmen manager to watch a safety violation and do 

nothing, the existing law would not excuse a Temporary Agency to do 

nothing if it observed a safety violation. Aerotek was cited because it had 

sufficient control by providing an on premise Manager. The Commission 

held that: 

In addition to providing contract employees, Respondent also 
supplied Coorstek with an On Premise Manager, Y arie Ortiz, whose 
primary responsibility was serving as a liaison between contract 
employees, Coorstek, and Respondent. (Tr. 94-95, Ex. C-5 at 1). 
This included enforcing discipline when safety rules were violated 
by contract employees; performing screening of those employees for 
qualifications, background checks, and references; attending 
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production and staff meetings; and reporting injuries suffered by 
contract employees. (Tr. 99; Ex. C-5 at 1 ). In addition, Ms. Ortiz 
walked the production floor with new contractor employees as part 
of their orientation to the Coorstek facility. 

This holding is consistent with a recent case decided by the Court of 

Appeals, Division II, in Staffmark, LLC, No. 52837-1-II. In that case, the 

Court held: 

"[I]t is settled law that jobsite owners have a specific duty to comply 
with WISHA regulations if they retain control over the manner and 
instrumentalities of work being done on the jobsite." Afoa, 176 
Wn.2d at 472. "[T]his duty extends to all workers on the jobsite that 
may be harmed by WISHA violations." Afoa, 176 Wn.2d at 472." 

In Staffmark, Andy Johnson, Staffinark's onsite manager, provided 

onsite supervision and granted supervisory responsibility to some of its lead 

workers. Additionally, the onsite manager worked on a daily basis and 

maintained a permanent workstation. He conducted daily walkthroughs of 

the host facility. Staffinark's lead workers reported to Staffinark's onsite 

manager who also had the ultimate authority to discipline or terminate 

workers who were not meeting the host employer's standards. Under these 

facts, even though Staffinark provided temporary workers, it had sufficient 

control to be considered as an "Employer" under WISHA. Thus, the 

Department's concerns that the Court of Appeals decision would allow 

temporary agencies to be "let off the hook" for not taking appropriate action 

which they know about is simply not the case. 

As held by this Court in Afoa, supra, control over the 

instrumentalities of the work being done at the worksite is the operative 

factor to determine whether WISHA applies. This is the settled law in 
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Washington which the Court of Appeals followed in affirming the Board's 

decision to vacate the citations against Tradesmen. 

It is clear that when a temporary agency has sufficient control over 

the instrumentalities that it has the ability to correct hazards that adversely 

affects its temporary workers. Citations under WISHA are appropriate 

when an employer has control to abate the hazard but fails to do so. This 

is consistent with the holding in MLB where the Commission held that the 

purpose of the health and safety act is best served when the employer's duty 

to comply with OSHA standards is based upon whether it created or 

controlled the cited hazard. 

III. CONCLUSION 

Existing law for dual employers is well settled and is based on 

whether the temporary agency has sufficient control over the worker and 

the work environment to effectuate abatement of the hazard at hand. 

Where a temporary agency does not have sufficient control and cannot abate 

the hazard, it is not an employer under the Act. 

The Court of Appeals' decision below does not leave a gap in 

worker safety for temporary employees. The host employer has a non­

delegable duty to provide a safe working environment for all of its workers, 

including temporary workers under its control. It is in the best position to 

provide worker safety. WISHA citations are appropriate when the host 

employer fails to meet its obligation to follow WISHA regulations. 
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The Department should use its rule making authority instead of 

turning to the Courts to make policy decisions to specifically address the 

precarious nature of new and temporary employees. 

The Court should respectfully deny the Petitioner's/Department's 

Petition for Discretionary Review.